# Caution and Hope

# The Prevalence of Adverse Childhood Experiences in Globally Mobile Third Culture Kids

Prepared for TCK Training by Tanya Crossman and Lauren Wells June 2022



## Contents

- 2 ... Summary
- 3 ... Introduction
- 4 ... Background
  - 4 ... Third Culture Kids: Defintions
  - 6 ... Third Culture Kids: Literature
  - 8 ... Adverse Childhood Experiences

#### II ... Methodology

- 11 ... Data Collection
- 13 ... Data Analysis
- 14 ... Limitations

#### 15 ... Demographics

- 15 ... Sector
- 18 ... Education
- 21 ... Age
- 22 ... Mobility
- 32 ... ACE Scores
  - 35 ... ACEs by Sector
  - 36 ... ACEs by Education
  - 38 ... ACEs by Age
  - 39 ... ACEs by Mobility
- 42 ... Practical Applications
- 44 ... Conclusion
- 47 ... Endnotes
  - 52 ... Other Resources Consulted

### Summary

In this white paper, we share data on demographics and ACE scores in 1,904 adult Third Culture Kids impacted by global mobility surveyed by TCK Training in our 2021 survey of Developmental Trauma in TCKs.

The term Third Culture Kid has its roots in research conducted in the 1950s-60s, and has been in use since the 1980s. For the purposes of this paper, a globally mobile Third Culture Kid lives outside their passport country for 1-18 years as a result of a parent's work or education (chosen relocation, without intent to immigrate permanently).

The ACE Score is a widely used measure of Adverse Childhood Experiences, with potential scores ranging from 0-10. A score of 4 or more is linked to high risk for various negative behavioral, psychological, and physical health outcomes.

Research in the US showed a rate of 12.5% of the population with an ACE score of 4+; in the Philippines it was 9%. In our non-random sampling of 1,904 TCKs, 21% had an ACE score of 4+, putting them at risk for negative health outcomes. In those experiencing high mobility (10+ locations, or 15+ houses) the rate of 4+ ACEs rose to 32% and 33% respectively. Mission Kids had lower ACE scores than those in other sectors, with 17% having 4+ ACEs compared to 26% of non-mission TCKs. This is still higher than the 4+ ACEs rates recorded in non-TCKs samples, however. Further research is indicated to replicate these results and provide additional data in this area.

A high ACE score does not condemn an individual to a difficult adulthood, but it is a risk factor worth noting. Positive Childhood Experiences (PCEs) are a proven way to prevent ACEs leading to negative health outcomes. The high ACEs experienced by TCKs in our sample indicate that deliberate implementation of PCEs by all globally mobile sectors is an important protective measure for the long-term health of families. We believe that knowledge and implementation of PCEs is a responsibility of those who send and care for globally mobile families, especially in the light of this data.

## Introduction

Traditional Third Culture Kids experience international mobility during childhood. This experience can have positive impacts on development and adulthood, but it is not without risk. Factors such as mobility, exposure to extreme poverty, interrupted routine, and intense loss and grief, among others, create an environment where developmental traumas can be easily collected and overlooked. Without recognizing the types and prevalence of those traumas it can be difficult to advise on preventing them or their effects. As we seek to develop evidence-based, trauma-informed approaches to caregiving for the TCK population, it is critical that we investigate the risks this population encounters.

Since the 1990s, Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) studies have been conducted to determine how the rates of childhood neglect, abuse, and household dysfunction may impact an individual's mental, physical, and behavioral health in adulthood.<sup>1</sup> The ACE score is a number between zero and ten. Much higher rates of negative outcomes in adulthood are seen in the portion of the population with ACE scores of four or higher.

After observing the unique experiences of globally mobile TCKs and their exposure to grief and trauma in her work with hundreds of globally mobile families, Lauren Wells hypothesized that the prevalence of ACE scores would be higher in TCKs than in monocultural individuals.<sup>2a,3a</sup>

While significant anecdotal evidence has been accumulated regarding developmental trauma causing PTSD and complex-PTSD among the children of internationally mobile families, there is a lack of quantitative data to back up these stories. Adverse Childhood Experiences provide an opportunity for comparable Adverse Childhood Experiences provide an opportunity for comparable data, as ACEs have been studied in multiple countries over several decades.

concrete data, as ACEs have been studied in multiple countries (both developed and developing) over several decades. We hypothesized that TCKs experiencing international mobility would have higher ACE scores than individuals in existing ACE research, as per the predictions in Wells' books.

3

## Background

#### Third Culture Kids: Definitions

John Useem and Ruth Hill Useem are credited with the earliest use of the phrase 'Third Culture' from their work with expatriate Americans in India in the 1950s and 1960s. Their early work was focused on cultural engagement which might but did not necessarily require international mobility.<sup>4,5</sup> Ruth Hill Useem then began to engage with the experiences of children raised outside their passport countries. In a 1973 paper she used the terms "third culture children" and "third culture teenagers" but not the capitalized term Third Culture Kid with the accompanying acronym TCK.<sup>6</sup>

This term was in use soon after, however. David Pollock was instrumental in expanding the term to embrace all children who grew up in the Third Culture, not just those in a specific location, as well as ongoing work in the field.<sup>7</sup> An early working definition of Third Culture Kids was proposed at the 1987 International Conference on Missionary Kids (ICMK) held in Quito, Ecuador:

"The general working definition for [a Third Culture Kid] is a young person who has spent a sufficient period of time in a culture other than his own, resulting in integration of elements from both the host culture and his own culture into what we have called a third culture."<sup>8</sup>

66

It is worth noting that at the same time (in the early 1980s) Norma McCaig coined the term Global Nomad for which she developed a similar definition: "a person of any age or nationality who has lived a significant part of his or her developmental years in one or more countries outside his or her passport country because of a parent's occupation."

An early working definition of Third Culture Kids was proposed [in] 1987... "...a young person who has spent a sufficient period of time in a culture other than his own, resulting in integration of elements from both the host culture and his own culture into what we have called a third culture." In 1993 Ruth Hill Useem described the progressive use of TCK terminology this way, including a similar definition for TCKs:

"...we began to use the term "third culture" as a generic term to cover the styles of life created, shared, and learned by persons who are in the process of relating their societies, or sections thereof, to each other. The term "Third Culture Kids" or TCKs was coined to refer to the children who accompany their parents into another society." <sup>10</sup>

The most prominent work in the TCK field is the book *Third Culture Kids*: *Growing Up Among Worlds* by David Pollock and Ruth Van Reken, first published in 1999.<sup>11</sup> The third edition, published in 2017, includes David's son Michael Pollock as a third co-author.<sup>12</sup> The original definition of a Third Culture Kid from the 1999 publication was as follows:

"A Third Culture Kid (TCK) is a person who has spent a significant part of his or her developmental years outside the parents' culture." <sup>11a</sup>

By the time the 3rd Edition was published in 2017, a revised definition was included which specified international mobility, putting it more in line with McCaig's definition of a Global Nomad:

"A traditional TCK is a person who spends a significant part of his or her first 18 years of life accompanying parent(s) into a country that is different from at least one parent's passport country(ies) due to a parent's choice of work or advanced training."<sup>12a</sup>

The use of "traditional TCK" contrasted with "domestic TCK," a term coined to include those experiencing cultural dislocation within their own country, while contrasting this with global mobility in "traditional Third Culture Kids."<sup>12</sup> This is part of Ruth Van Reken's Cross Cultural Kid model, which illustrates some of the many ways a young person can be impacted by multiple cultures.<sup>12a</sup> Other subtypes include ethnic, religious, or linguistic minority groups, as well as those making permanent international relocations, as migrants or refugees.

Tanya Crossman builds on this by discussing cross-cultural intersectionality: the layering of multiple cross-cultural experiences and identities.<sup>13,14</sup>

While there is dispute among scholars and caregivers over definitions and best usage, we chose to follow the CCK model, which classes both

A traditional TCK is a person who spends a significant part of his or her first 18 years of life accompanying parent(s) into a country that is different from at least one parent's passport country(ies) due to a parent's choice of work or advanced training. domestically mobile and internationally mobile TCKs as sub-types of cross-cultural childhood experience. For the purpose of this study, with limited resources available and interest in the impact of international movement, we surveyed only those who had experienced global mobility.

#### Third Culture Kids: Literature

Literature concerning Third Culture Kids has developed over time, with a large increase in content over the past 15 years. The first category of TCK literature is memoir and other methods of sharing individual stories and perspectives. An early well-known example in this field is *Unrooted Childhoods* (2004), a memoir collection edited by Eidse and Sichel.<sup>15</sup> Other notable examples include: *Home Keeps Moving* (2010) by Heidi Sand-Hart, *Letters Never Sent* (2012) by Ruth Van Reken, *Hidden In My Heart* (2013) by Taylor Murray, *Between Worlds* (2014) and its sequel *Worlds Apart* (2018) by Marilyn Gardner.<sup>16,17,18,19,20</sup> Often these works served as catharsis and validation for Third Culture Kids who had similar experiences, as well as eye-opening narrative for caregivers.

As awareness and interest in the field grew, more resources were created, building on the seminal work by Pollock and Van Reken, to discuss and share care strategies for parents, educators, and other caregivers. Pioneers in this field include: Ettie Zilber's *Third Culture Kids* - *The Children of Educators in International Schools* (2009), Tina Quick's *The Global Nomad's Guide to University Transition* (2010), Julia Simens' *Emotional Resilience and the Expat Child* (2011), Lois Bushong's *Belonging Everywhere and Nowhere* (2013), and Doug Ota's *Safe Passage* (2014).<sup>21,22,23,24,25</sup> Later additions which have greatly added to the field include *Third Culture Kids*: A *Gift to Care For* (2019) by Ulrika Ernvik, *Raising Global Teens* (2020) by Anisha Abraham, and Lauren Wells' books *Raising Healthy Third Culture Kids* (2020) and *The Grief Tower* (2021).<sup>26,27,28,2</sup>

A third category of literary works are integrative, combining narrative through memoir or qualitative research with practical resources, either for caregivers or for Third Culture Kids themselves. Notable examples of this type include: *Slurping Soup and Other Confusions* (2013) by Tonges et al; *Arrivals, Departures and the Adventures In Between* (2014) by Christopher O'Shaughnessy; *Misunderstood* (2016) by Tanya Crossman; *Growing Up in Transit* (2017) by Danau Tanu; and *The Third Culture Teen* (2020) by Jiwon Lee.<sup>29,30,31,32,33</sup>

There is also an emerging field of fiction for Third Culture Kids, centering on children with globally mobile experiences. Fictional stories of Third Culture Kid experiences have existed for a very long time. *The Little Princess* (1905) and *The Secret Garden* (1911) by Frances Hodgson Burnett are classic examples of repatriating Third Culture Kid fiction, and *When Africa Was Home* (1994) by Karen Lynn Williams is a later example of a Third Culture Kid picture book. <sup>34,35,36</sup> Modern TCK fiction is generally aimed at providing empathy and validation for the emotions of Third Culture Kids in transition, not only validating but also equipping these children with tools for overcoming struggles such as culture shock, homesickness, and reverse culture shock. Notable examples include *B at Home* (2014) by Valerie Besanceney and two books by Emily Steele Jackson: *Home, James* (2018) and *See Ya Later, Allie Rader* (2021).

Much of the literature published in the categories we have labeled 'care strategies' and 'integrative' relies largely on qualitative research, whether interviews with subjects or surveys asking qualitative questions. Quantitative research available to cite is often too specific to apply, or not specific enough, such as research about child development in general without reference to Third Culture Kids. Thousands of scholarly articles concerning the Third Culture Kid experience have been published, making use of both qualitative and quantitative research, yet most draw from limited pools of respondents, certain sub-groups or nationalities. In many cases, results contain a mix of caution and hope: both positive outcomes overall, but also potential difficulties to be aware of.<sup>40,41,42,43</sup> Results like this are the reason we believe

strongly in preventive care, and researchbased awareness of potential struggles to equip caregivers and Third Culture Kids of all ages for lifelong thriving.

As TCK literature moves forward, we hope to see less need to rely on anecdotal evidence (albeit anecdotal evidence built up through decades of hands-on practice) We believe strongly in preventive care, and researchbased awareness of potential struggles to equip caregivers and Third Culture Kids of all ages for lifelong thriving.

because plenty of helpful and applicable research will be available to back up what practitioners and caregivers are seeing in those they support.

## Adverse Childhood Experiences

The concept of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and ACE scores was first explored the 1990s by Dr. Vincent Felitti, along with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).<sup>1</sup> The purpose of the original study was to determine whether a link existed between difficult events and experiences in an individual's developmental years and their physical, emotional, and mental health as adults. The 10 factors that make up the ACE score are arranged as a series of yes or no questions leading to a score of 0-10, "which has repeatedly demonstrated a strong, graded, dose-response relationship to numerous health and social outcomes."<sup>44</sup>

From the earliest studies, high ACE scores have been associated with higher risk of disease, depression, alcoholism, and obesity.<sup>1</sup> High ACE scores have since been connected with an increased risk of autoimmune disease, chronic lung disease, liver disease, in addition to poor performance in school, unemployment and high-risk behaviors, such as smoking, illicit drug use and promiscuity.<sup>45</sup> There is also a high risk for negative mental health outcomes, and even premature death.<sup>46,47</sup> People with high ACE scores are more likely to be violent, to have more marriages, more broken bones, more drug prescriptions, more depression, and more autoimmune diseases.<sup>48</sup>

The more ACEs an individual has, the higher their risk for negative outcomes.<sup>49</sup> People with an ACE score of six or higher are at risk of their lifespan being shortened by an average of 20 years.<sup>50</sup> Adults with an ACE score of four or more are 32 times more likely to have a learning or behavioral issue compared to adults with a score of 0.<sup>51</sup> They are also twice as likely to develop heart disease or cancer, seven times more likely to develop alcohol dependence, and have a nearly 400% greater risk of emphysema or chronic bronchitis.<sup>1</sup> They are also four times more likely to suffer from depression and 12 times more likely to attempt suicide.<sup>52</sup> The risk of suicide skyrockets to 35% for those with an ACE score of 7 or more.<sup>53</sup> High-risk behaviors account for nearly 50% of these increased risks.<sup>54</sup> These unhealthy coping strategies are the logical place for hurting individuals to turn when they have not been adequately equipped with healthy coping strategies. As Felitti himself wrote in 2009:

"Many of our most intractable public health problems are the result of compensatory behaviors like smoking, overeating, and alcohol and drug use, which provide immediate partial relief from the emotional problems caused by traumatic childhood experiences. Those experiences are generally unrecognized and become lost in time, where they are protected by shame, by secrecy, and by social taboos against exploring certain areas of human experience."<sup>55</sup>

Moreover, "the stress of ACEs can inhibit natural, positive methods of coping."<sup>45</sup> When those with high ACE scores seek treatment for drug or alcohol addiction, they are also less likely to complete treatment, and more

The emotional problems caused by traumatic childhood experiences... are generally unrecognized and become lost in time, where they are protected by shame, by secrecy, and by social taboos against exploring certain areas of human experience. likely to require additional support to achieve sobriety.<sup>56</sup>

ACE research has also been conducted in developing countries. In 2002-2003, a study using some of the ACE factors was done in Nigeria. In 2010, an ACE study of 1,068 individuals was done in Manila, Philippines. 58

Adverse Childhood Experiences may look different or be contextualized differently when experienced by globally mobile Third Culture Kids. As Lauren Wells writes:

"When talking with college-age TCKs, I'll ask about sexual abuse, and often they'll say they've never experienced that. But when I go a step further and ask if they've ever been touched inappropriately, they'll say, "Well, I mean, I was grabbed on the behind or front anytime I walked through a marketplace, but that's just to be expected because I'm light-skinned and stand out." Just because it is seemingly common does not mean that it isn't impactful and worthy of being a block on the Grief Tower or an ACE score."

The purpose of ACE score data is not to risk-assess certain situations as bad for children, for the purpose of removing children or families. It is not to condemn certain individuals as having inevitable bad outcomes as adults. Instead, ACE score data allows us to identify individuals at risk of unhealthy outcomes so that we can apply research into protective factors, and make informed choices during the developmental years. For example, having a supporting adult to turn to during difficult times helps reset stress activation in children, and lacking that support leads to toxic continuous stress.<sup>59</sup> Thus the presence of supportive adults is crucial for children living in stressful (or potentially stressful) situations.

In 2017, Robert D Sege and Charlyn Harper Browne developed a holistic care practice that mitigates the risks that come from high ACE scores, known as HOPE.<sup>60</sup> They found that being in nurturing, supportive The presence of supportive adults is crucial for children living in stressful (or potentially stressful) situations.

relationships; living, developing, playing, and learning in safe, stable, protective, and equitable environments; having opportunities for constructive social engagement and connectedness; and learning social and emotional competencies all contributed to a child's well-being in adulthood and counteracted many negative effects of the children's ACE scores.

10

In 2019, research was conducted on the concept of Positive Childhood Experiences (PCEs).<sup>61</sup> This research looked at those who reported high ACE scores and sought to discover why some in that population had fewer related adverse experiences in adulthood compared to others with the same number of ACE scores. Their research revealed seven PCEs that act as protective factors and explain how someone with a high ACE score can still thrive in adulthood.

Having higher counts of PCEs was associated with 72% lower odds of having depression or poor mental health overall as an adult. Bethell and her coworkers found that having higher counts of PCEs was associated with 72% lower odds of having depression or poor mental health overall as an adult; that those with higher levels of positive experiences were over 3.5 times more likely to have healthy social and emotional support as an adult; and that

accumulation of the seven PCEs shifted the outcome positively in adulthood.<sup>61</sup>

99

# Methodology

While a methodology report has already been made available, we have collected a summary of information here. For more details, please read the full report.<sup>62</sup>

## Data Collection

We created an online survey which was circulated through various online networks of people who self-identify as Third Culture Kids, Military Kids, Missionary Kids, missionaries, expatriates, international school educators, globally mobile, and global nomads. In addition, the survey was promoted by adult TCKs who are experts in relevant fields, had taken the survey, and then promoted it to their own networks. This included multinationals, foreign service kids, and military kids with experience as academics and international educational consultants. Prior to circulation, the survey went through a three month process of design review. This included oversight from experts in relevant fields such as academic researchers, international educators and educational consultants, therapists with specific expertise in globally mobile populations (both counselors and psychologists), and a child psychologist. We made changes and additions to wording and support structures in accordance with their suggestions.

We strategically modeled many of the questions on existing ACE questionnaires to enable us to compare our data to previous studies.<sup>63</sup> More recent research has widened the ACE parameters to include additional potential traumas such as bullying, teen dating violence, community violence, homelessness, economic hardship, and death of a parent.<sup>64</sup> We chose to stick to the original ten ACE factors so as to make our data comparable with as many other studies as possible.

Some additional questions were interspersed, largely to answer questions that would naturally arise in respondents' minds - "why ask this but not that?" For example, the original ACE questionnaire asks about violence toward one's mother/step-mother, but not toward the father/step-father; we asked about both. As another example, the ACE question about sexual abuse stipulates that the perpetrator be an adult or at least five years older than the respondent. Anticipating the question "what about the person who was abused by a minor of a similar age?" we included additional questions to represent experiences of child-on-child sexual abuse, as well as sexual grooming. While these responses do not count toward respondents' ACE scores, the data was collected and will be explored in a future paper.

Another change was in the instructions regarding the nature of household members. Typical ACE questionnaires make it clear that any adult living in the house is a household member, including extended family or family friends. In our explanation we clarified that household members also included household staff living in the home, which is common in some expatriate communities.

The survey began with a number of demographic questions, both quantitative and qualitative, to assist in sorting and analyzing the resulting

12

data. Finally, there were also a series of additional questions related to developmental trauma more generally, which will not be explored in this white paper.

#### Data Analysis

By the end of the six month survey period, 2,377 responses were received. These responses were put through four exclusion criteria to determine suitability for inclusion in the final data set. Thirty-five were rejected as being respondents under the age of 18. An additional 419 were rejected for being incomplete; that is, not completing all the required questions regarding demographics, ACEs, and developmental trauma. This included a number of responses where only a handful of questions had been answered before the respondent navigated away from the survey. Thirty-seven complete responses were flagged for individual review, as they indicated a potential lack of international mobility. After review 19 were rejected, and 18 retained. Those retained showed a clear experience of international mobility, while those rejected had cross-cultural experiences without international mobility. Those who indicated they had lived in only one country were also reviewed

66

individually; all were living outside their passport country. Finally, all accepted responses were scanned for identical answers; no identical responses were identified. This left 1,904 responses which were included in our final data set.

In addition to the review of exclusion

2,377 responses were received... 1,904 responses were included in our final data set.

99

criteria, a review of qualitative demographic questions was conducted. Respondents were asked to categorize the reasons for their mobility and their educational background, in both cases selecting a primary identifier as well as listing all that applied. All responses in which "none of the above" was selected as the primary identifier for either mobility sector or education were individually reviewed. After review, the majority could be clearly assigned to one of the existing categories using either the explicit or implicit description given. That respondents did not see themselves in the categories was a failure on our part to make our definitions clear; this is explained further in the Demographics section. The survey was created using Momentive, and some analysis was conducted using its in-built tools; this was especially helpful for fast viewing of particular multivariate sets.<sup>65</sup> All data was exported in excel files, where more data analysis could be done offline.

#### Limitations

In the context of our research, the complexity of Third Culture Kid identity and experience as discussed in the Background section of this paper posed problems when it came to drafting questions. To fully engage in a person's geographic experience and cultural identity is an incredibly complex undertaking. The focus of our research was to quantify Adverse Childhood Experiences and explore other experiences of developmental trauma among TCKs with experiences of international mobility; for this reason we chose not to front load the survey with complex questions about specific geographical experience and cultural identity. While this would be very interesting information to have, the difficulty in acquiring it would reduce completion rates without adding greatly to the data collected. Instead, we chose to focus on mobility sector and education as our key qualitative demographics. We also did not ask respondents to share their gender, therefore no genderbased T-tests can be done with this data.

We used non-random sampling to collect our data. That is, we did not choose our respondents; they chose us. The limitation of non-random sampling is that we cannot be sure that this sample in fact represents the TCK population as a whole. Our results come from a pool of people who already identify with international mobility in some way, or were sent the survey information by an acquaintance who did. The comments we received were a mix of those who believed all TCKs had lots of trauma, and those who believed no TCKs experienced trauma; while this indicates diversity in our sample, we cannot be sure this is an accurate sampling. We do believe, however, that our results highlight the need for additional future research.

We did not individually identify each respondent, so there is some risk of fraudulent responses. Steps were taken to minimize this risk. The software used to run the survey was set to recognize IP addresses; if a second attempt was made to take the survey from the same IP address, the individual would not be permitted to re-take the survey but instead be asked to review their previous response. All complete responses were scanned for identical responses; none were detected. This makes it highly unlikely anyone accidentally answered the survey more than once. After completing the survey, respondents were given the option to share comments and/or their email address to receive updates about the research. 38% of respondents chose to leave their email address, and a further 6% left a comment but not an email address, making a total of 44% (837 people) who made this optional extra effort. While this has no objective empirical value, it certainly suggests that a large proportion of respondents were individually invested in the survey and its results.

We are confident in the quality of the ACE data presented here. Finally, human error could be a factor in the assignment of ACE scores to individual respondents. Each respondent answers questions pertaining to the ten ACE factors. These were tabulated individually by a researcher to create an ACE score for each individual. These scores

were then re-calculated and checked. Random checks were later conducted, during which no errors were discovered. Given these layers of checks, we are confident in the quality of the ACE data presented here.

# **Demographics**

Survey respondents were asked to share their experiences concerning a series of demographic categories which we then used to compare and contrast ACE scores between groups. The demographics used in data analysis are explained below, along with tables recording results. In this section we will discuss the demographic results regarding sector, education, age, and mobility (countries lived in, location moves, and house moves).

#### Sector

We asked respondents to describe the reason/s for their childhood



international mobility. An internationally mobile family's sector can have a big impact on what financial, relational, and cross-cultural resources are (or are not) made available to them, so we expected that there would be significant differences in results by sector.<sup>66</sup>

We gave respondents space to record all the reasons for their childhood mobility, as many families have complex motivations behind international moves. This may be due to two parents having different occupations, changes in career over time, or different moves occurring for different reasons. In addition to this we also asked respondents to select one primary reason they identified for their international mobility. This was done so as to be able to use this qualitative demographic factor to sort the rest of the data collected. The seven primary sector categories we created comprise the following range of experiences:

- 1. **Mission:** a family who moves overseas with the goal of spreading their religion, through a variety of means.
- 2. **Business:** a family who moves overseas for work (that does not fall into other specific categories). This includes corporate transfers, entrepreneurial ventures, self-initiated expatriates, and those who move looking for work.
- 3. Military: a family who moves overseas due to a parent's military service.
- 4. **Diplomat:** a family who moves overseas due to a parent's service with their country's foreign service, whether in the diplomatic corps specifically or in other branches of government service.
- 5. **Education:** a family who moves overseas due to a parent's role as a teacher or student. This includes a parent with a student visa, and a parent on a teaching sabbatical.
- 6. NGO/IGO: a family who moves overseas due to a parent's work in a Non-Government Organization (e.g. Oxfam, Médecins Sans Frontières) or an Intergovernmental Organization (e.g. UN, WTO). This category also included all other charity, humanitarian, and development work.
- 7. **Other:** Only 35 respondents did not fall into one of the above six categories; 29 of these moved overseas due to a parent's relationship (moving to be near a love interest, to a parent's home country, etc.).

The low number of true "Other" respondents (6) is due to individual review and reallocation. Where a respondent chose "none of the above" for their primary sector, their response was individually reviewed. In many cases, other responses that made it clear they in fact fit into one of the categories as expanded upon above, even though they didn't feel identity with them. In some cases, we had failed to communicate the nature of the category well enough; in other cases, their description of their situation was exactly what was in the category description. For example, some were unsure that their particular type of humanitarian work fell into the NGO/IGO category. Others were clearly included in the Business category, but did not identify with it, perhaps due to an assumption that this was for high-budget corporate families only. These "none of the above" answers were re-categorised according to the other responses they volunteered, so that their data would be counted in sector comparisons.

Respondents	s by primary mob	ility sector	Other Education 35
Sector	# People	% of Total	Diplomat 92
Mission	1,068	56.1%	107
Business	275	14.4%	
Military	269	14.1%	Military 269
Diplomat	107	5.6%	Mission
Education	92	4.8%	1068
NGO/IGO	58	3.1%	
Other	35	1.9%	Business 275

As you can see above, both the Education and NGO/IGO sectors were under 100 total responses each. This is too small a sub-set for comparison (we used groups of at least 100 for each comparison). For this reason, we combined the Education and NGO/IGO sectors into one group of 150 respondents for the purposes of sector comparison, labeled Edu-NGO.

The mission sector comprised over 50% of the total respondents. This is a significant group, large enough to change the overall statistics on its own. For this reason, we ran comparisons for the mission and non-mission groups whenever looking at total group statistics. In some cases, the numbers were similar; in other cases there was a large difference between the two.

17

#### Education

We asked respondents to list the different categories of educational environments they experienced during childhood. The type of school an internationally mobile child attends impacts their experience of transitional relationships and access to cross-cultural training.<sup>67</sup> As with sectors, we asked for both the full list of environments experienced, as well as for their core educational experience. Only one choice was permitted; respondents were asked which category best represented their core educational experience. This allowed us to use this qualitative demographic factor to sort the rest of the data collected. We were interested to see if any patterns might show up here. The five core educational experiences categories we created comprise the following range of educational environments:

- 1. **Local school**: any national curriculum school in its own country, whether public or private (accredited by the country in which it exists).
- 2. **International school**: any school using a different curriculum to that of the country in which it is located, whether the student population is predominantly local or foreign (this may or may not include using a different language to the national curriculum). The curriculum might be that of a different country, something different like the International Baccalaureate, or offer a mix of options.<sup>68</sup> This category includes Department of Defense schools, military base schools, and embassy schools.
- 3. **Christian international school**: any international school (see definition above) which is run with a specifically Christian worldview. This includes both large international schools and small missionary schools. The student body may include children from non-Christian families, who choose it as the only international option available in their area, or a more cost-effective option than other international schools.
- 4. **Boarding school**: any school where students live on campus, whether during the week or throughout the school term. Includes students who live in boarding houses off-campus, but away from family.
- 5. **Homeschool**: any situation in which students are educated outside of a scholastic establishment, with self-determined curriculum; includes family homeschooling, individual tutoring with a hired teacher, and homeschool cooperative groups (with parent teachers or a hired teacher).

18

Respondents by core e	Homeschool 294		
Education	# People	% of Total	
Local school	411	21.6%	Boarding
International School	596	31.3%	225
Christian intl school	378	19.9%	
Boarding school	225	11.8%	
Homeschool	294	15.4%	
Other	0	0.0%	Christian 378

There are zero respondents in the Other category due to individual review and reallocation. In the few cases where a respondent chose "none of the above" as their core educational experience, their response was individually reviewed. In every case, they had left responses that made it clear they in fact fit into one of the categories as expanded upon above. The problem was in our communication of those categories.

For example, many of those who chose "none of the above" attended Department of Defense, Military Base, or Mission schools - all of which fall into one of our broad categories. That they felt they were not included means that we had not communicated the scope of the category rather than that their responses should not be counted. For this reason, all "none of the above" answers were re-categorised according to other responses they volunteered, so that their data would be counted in education comparisons.

Given the high percentage of Mission kids in the sample, it is prudent to immediately compare these two qualitative demographics. The following table plots out the frequency of respondents by both sector and education.

Here it becomes clear that the seemingly even distribution of education types is skewed by the mission population, who make up most of the respondents who attended Christian international schools, boarding schools, and homeschool.

The type of school an internationally mobile child attends impacts their experience of transitional relationships and access to cross-cultural training.

Local 411

> Intl 596

Comparing sector and education								
	Mission Business Military Diplomat Edu-NGO							
Local	128	86	133	14	35			
International	152	157	117	88	73			
Christian Intl	322	19	5	3	25			
Boarding	207	7	1	0	8			
Homeschool	259	6	13	2	9			

This next table compares education type by the percentage of mission and non-mission kids who selected it as their primary educational experience. There is a huge difference in the two groups, with the vast majority of nonmission kids attending either local school or international school, while less than a third of mission kids are split between those two educational options.

Education % in Mission and Non-Mission					
	Mission Non-Mission				
Local	12.0%	33.9%			
International	14.2%	53.1%			
Christian Intl	30.1%	6.7%			
Boarding	19.4%	2.2%			
Homeschool	24.3%	4.2%			





We asked respondents for their year of birth, rather than current age. This limits the impact of different cultural age counting methods. It also makes clear the age of the respondents in history for future reference to this research, and allows us to more readily group respondents by decade of birth.

Respondent	s by decade of	birth	40%					
	# of People	% of Total	30%					
Born before 1960	212	11.1%	20%					
Born 1960-1969	219	11.5%						
Born 1970-1979	289	15.2%	10%					
Born 1980-1989	373	19.6%						
Born 1990-1999	631	33.1%	$ $					
Born 2000-2003	180	9.5%	BOWN BOY BOY BOY BOY DO					
At this point, we	wish to poir	nt out a biv	ariate comparison of note. When					
different eastern	different enternance and encode of highly the military contar should be							



different sectors are compared by decade of birth, the military sector shows a divergent pattern. Whereas in other sectors we received more responses from younger participants than from older participants, in the military sector we received disproportionately more responses from older participants.

Respondents by decade of birth								
Mission Business Military Diplomat Edu-NGO								
Born before 1960	101	8	89	11	3			
Born 1960-1969	99	29	63	14	12			
Born 1970-1979	142	52	51	15	25			
Born 1980-1989	213	63	38	19	25			
Born 1990-1999	400	100	24	34	64			
Born 2000-2003	113	23	4	14	21			

When the military sector responses are separated out, a different picture of the age breakdown appears. The line charts placed over the resulting bar chart show how the age trends go in completely opposite directions.

Respondents by decade of birth, military vs non-military								
	All People % of Total Military % Military Non-Mil % Non-M							
Born before 1960	212	11.1%	89	33.0%	123	7.5%		
Born 1960-1969	219	11.5%	63	23.4%	156	9.5%		
Born 1970-1979	289	15.2%	51	19.0%	238	14.6%		
Born 1980-1989	373	19.6%	38	14.1%	335	20.5%		
Born 1990-1999	631	33.1%	24	8.9%	607	37.1%		
Born 2000-2003	180	9.5%	4	1.5%	176	10.8%		



<sup>(</sup>Line chart excludes the incomplete decade of 2000-2003.)

#### Mobility

We asked respondents to calculate three numbers representing three different types of mobility: number of countries lived in, number of location moves, and number of house moves. While each question results in a number that can be treated as quantitative data, these responses are in another way more like qualitative data. There was a level of subjectivity involved in how some individuals came to the numbers they submitted.

#### **Countries Lived In**

The number of countries a person lived in before age 18 sounds straightforward on the surface. The gray area comes when asking how long counts as living in a place. One year? Six months? One month?

Countries lived in					
# Countries	# People	% of Total			
1	108	5.7%			
2	806	42.3%			
3	548	28.8%			
4	246	12.9%			
5	130	6.8%			
6	38	2.0%			
7	18	1.0%			
8	2	0.1%			
9	4	0.2%			
10	1	0.1%			
>10	3	0.2%			



The majority of TCKs in our sample (71%) lived in two or three countries before the age of 18, and an additional 20% lived in four or five countries. Fewer than 4% lived in six or more countries. Those who lived in only one

country, it is worth re-stating, were not living in their passport countries (a condition of eligibility).

When we compare the countries lived in by mobility sector, some patterns begin to emerge. (See data table and chart on the next page.) The majority of TCKs in our sample (71%) lived in two or three countries before the age of 18, and an additional 20% lived in four or five countries.

Mobility sectors, by countries lived in									
	Mission	Mission Business Military Diplomat Edu-NGO							
1 country	3.9%	7.3%	8.9%	3.7%	7.9%				
2 countries	44.4%	34.5	53.9%	2.8%	30.9%				
3 countries	28.7%	29.1%	26.4%	21.5%	28.1%				
4 countries	12.2%	14.9%	5.9%	25.2%	15.8%				
5 countries	5.0%	8.4%	4.1%	24.3%	9.4%				
>5 countries	5.9%	5.8%	0.8%	22.4%	7.9%				

■ 1 ■ 2 ■ 3 ■ 4 ■ 5 ■ >5



Military Kids lived in fewer countries; those from the Edu-NGO sector lived in slightly more than others. The diplomat sector showed far higher international mobility. There was less differentiation by education. There was slightly higher mobility among those who attended international schools, but overall the driver would appear to be sector rather than education. (Also see chart on the next page.)

Education, by countries lived in									
	Local school International Christian Boarding Homeschoo								
1 country	9.7%	5.9%	2.9%	1.8%	6.1%				
2 countries	46.5%	34.6%	47.4%	40.0%	47.6%				
3 countries	29.2%	27.2%	33.1%	28.9%	25.9%				
4 countries	7.3%	15.8%	11.6%	18.2%	12.6%				
5 countries	4.6%	10.2%	3.4%	7.6%	6.8%				
>5 countries*	2.7%	6.4%	1.6%	3.5%	1.0%				

\*There are fewer than 100 people in the >5 category, so we consider the data in this sub-group unreliable.



#### **Location Moves**

We asked how many times a respondent moved locations (a new country/city) before age 18. This added domestic mobility to international mobility. (See also chart on the next page.)

Location moves					
# of Moves	# People	% of Total			
0	36	1.9%			
1	52	2.7%			
2	112	5.9%			
3	185	9.7%			
4	206	10.8%			
5	217	11.4%			
6	194	10.2%			
7	178	9.4%			
8	170	8.9%			
9	125	6.6%			
10	102	5.4%			
11	59	3.1%			
12	73	3.8%			
13	30	1.6%			
14	12	0.6%			
15	20	1.1%			
>15	133	7.0%			

The average internationally mobile TCK in our sample moved location every three years throughout childhood.

66



By assigning the >15 category a value of 16, we calculated a mean number of location moves of 7, and a median of 6. When the >15 category was removed from the calculation, the mean reduced to 6, and the median remained 6. This means the average internationally mobile TCK in our sample moved location every three years throughout childhood.



For the purposes of multivariate comparison, we also combined this data into groups of approximately equal distribution across the total population.

It is difficult to precisely define what does and does not constitute a "move" without writing a hundred different example scenarios, and some would still be left out. By keeping to a simple question we allowed respondents to indivudally define what made sense in their own circumstances.

When the combined location move groups are divided up by sector, mobility patterns become apparent. The mission group numbers are reasonably flat, as to be expected given that they make up a large proportion of the overall sample. Every other sector, however, has a vastly different makeup. There is some similarity between the business and Edu-NGO sectors, both of which have lower mobility than other sectors. The military sector shows much higher mobility, which is not surprising. The diplomat sector has a different distribution again, with about 90% of respondents falling in the three middle categories (4-10 location moves).

Mobility sectors, by location moves									
	Mission	Mission Business Military Diplomat Edu-NGO							
0-3 moves	18.4%	36.7%	2.2%	6.5%	36.0%				
4-5 moves	21.5%	26.2%	13.0%	39.3%	25.2%				
6-7 moves	18.0%	20.4%	16.0%	24.3%	18.0%				
8-10 moves	21.3%	9.1%	34.3%	26.2%	14.4%				
>10 moves	20.8%	7.6%	24.5%	3.7%	6.5%				



#### ■ 0-3 ■ 4-5 ■ 6-7 ■ 8-10 ■ >10

The distributions by education are less stark, but some notes can still be made. There was slightly less mobility in international school students, with the distribution very similar for Christian schools. Local schools had slightly higher mobility, with a not dissimilar distribution. The distribution was different in the homeschool and boarding school groups, trending toward higher mobility, with extremely high mobility in the boarding students. This likely reflects the multiple moves of living in two places at once which many boarding students experience. (See data table and chart on the next page.)

27

Education, by location moves								
	Local school	Local school International Christian Boarding Ho						
0-3 moves	22.4%	24.0%	24.6%	5.8%	15.0%			
4-5 moves	21.4%	25.3%	24.1%	12.9%	21.8%			
6-7 moves	21.9%	19.5%	18.5%	17.8%	19.0%			
8-10 moves	18.0%	19.6%	19.8%	32.5%	19.7%			
>10 moves	16.3%	11.6%	13.0%	31.1%	24.5%			

■ 0-3 ■ 4-5 ■ 6-7 ■ 8-10 ■ >10



#### **House Moves**

40%

With house moves we again left space for self-definition. We asked for the number of times a respondent moved house (including in the same location) before age 18. This added another layer of mobility to the experiences of TCKs in our sample.

When calculating the >15 group as 16, the mean and median were both 9. The mode was >15, however, suggesting that the true mean and median

would be higher. Even with a mean of 9, however, we can surmise that the average TCK sampled moved house every two years during childhood. (See data table and chart on the next page.)

The average TCK sampled moved house every two years during childhood.

House moves					
# of Moves	# People	% of Total			
0	16	0.8%			
1	15	0.8%			
2	50	2.6%			
3	75	3.9%			
4	112	5.9%			
5	158	8.3%			
6	168	8.8%			
7	175	9.2%			
8	175	9.2%			
9	158	8.3%			
10	183	9.6%			
11	81	4.3%			
12	118	6.2%			
13	67	3.5%			
14	52	2.7%			
15	33	1.7%			
>15	268	14.1%			



For the purposes of multivariate comparison, we also combined this data into groups of approximately equal distribution across the total population. (See data table and chart on the next page.)

н	House moves			
# of Moves	# People	% of Total	14.1%	
0-4	268	14.1%		
5-6	326	17.1%	11-15	
7-8	350	18.4%	18.4%	
9-10	341	17.9%		
11-15	351	18.4%		
>15	268	14.1%	9-10 17.9%	

The mission numbers are reasonably flat, as is to be expected given they form such a large percentage of the total sample, but show greater mobility than other sectors. The other sector with very high mobility is, predictably, the military sector. As with the location move numbers, the business and Edu-NGO sectors have a similar distribution, with lower mobility. The diplomat sector has a different distribution, falling somewhere in between the others.

0-4 14.1%

> 7-8 18.4%

5-6 17.1%

Sector, by houses moves								
	Mission	Mission Business Military Diplomat Ec						
0-4 house moves	11.3%	26.5%	3.3%	11.2%	24.5%			
5-6 house moves	14.9%	22.5%	11.5%	28.0%	24.5%			
7-8 house moves	16.8%	21.8%	18.6%	26.2%	19.4%			
9-10 house moves	18.2%	12.0%	23.8%	15.9%	19.4%			
11-15 house moves	19.7%	10.9%	30.9%	15.9%	5.8%			
>15 house moves	19.1%	6.2%	11.9%	2.8%	6.5%			



Next we looked at the data by education. The high frequency of moves experienced by TCKs attending boarding school and homeschool (both largely missionary kids) point to situations where families not only move, but children split their time between different locations. More comparison, and preferably additional research, is needed before making conclusions. There is a lot to be gleaned from the data we gathered on mobility among globally mobile TCKs; we plan to explore this data more in a future paper.

Education, by house moves								
	Local school	ocal school International Christian Boarding						
0-4 house moves	17.3%	17.0%	13.0%	4.9%	12.2%			
5-6 house moves	18.7%	19.3%	17.2%	12.0%	14.3%			
7-8 house moves	19.5%	20.3%	18.3%	15.1%	15.6%			
9-10 house moves	17.0%	18.1%	18.5%	23.1%	13.9%			
11-15 house moves	18.5%	17.9%	18.5%	18.7%	19.0%			
>15 house moves	9.0%	7.4%	14.6%	26.2%	24.8%			



■ 0-4 ■ 5-6 ■ 7-8 ■ 9-10 ■ 11-15 ■ >15

# ACE Scores

A person's ACE score is calculated through 10 yes or no questions regarding their life before age 18. Every 'yes' answer adds one point to their score. These are our 10 questions, phrased as first-person true/false statements:\*\*

- 1. My parents separated or divorced
- 2. A member of my household struggled with alcoholism/was a problem drinker OR used illicit drugs\*
- 3. A member of my household went to prison
- 4. A household member was mentally ill OR depressed OR attempted suicide\*
- 5. As a child, I felt my parent/s didn't love me or think I was important or special OR I felt my family didn't look out for each other, feel close to each other, or support each other\*
- 6. As a child, I worried I didn't have enough to eat, had to wear dirty clothes, or had no one to protect me OR I worried my parent/s were unable to take care of me physically or take me to the doctor if I needed it.\*
- 7. An adult member of my household did any of the following: swore at me, humiliated me, put me down; used spiritual language to shame or manipulate me; used my emotions to shame, manipulate or harm me; acted in a way that made me afraid I might be physically hurt.
- 8. An adult member of my household or other caretaker adult did any of the following: often pushed, grabbed, slapped, or threw something at me; hit me so hard that it left a mark or I was injured as a result.
- 9. My parent/step-parent was treated in any of the following ways: often pushed, grabbed, slapped, or had something thrown at them; sometimes kicked, bitten, hit with a fist or hit with something hard; ever repeatedly hit or threatened with a gun or knife.
- 10. Any adult (or person at least five years older than me) did any of the following with or without my consent: touched, grabbed, or fondled me; had me touch their body in a sexual way; attempted to have sex/sexual contact with me; actually had any kind of sex/sexual contact with me.

<sup>\*</sup> Where a capitalized OR is used, we divided the question into separate elements; if one or more elements were answered with a 'yes,' a single ACE was added to the individual's tally.



<sup>\*\*</sup> Different phrasing was used through the survey; the style was standardized here for clarity.

The following chart shows the ACE scores we recorded for all 1,904 survey respondents. The highest score was nine out of ten, attributed to two individuals.

ACE Score	ACE Scores (whole TCK sample)					
# of ACEs	# People	% of Total				
0	504	26.5%				
1	413	21.7%				
2	319	16.8%				
3	271	14.2%				
4	152	8.0%				
5	129	6.8%				
6	76	4.0%				
7	22	1.2%				
8	16	0.8%				
9	2	0.1%				
10	0	0.0%				



As discussed earlier, a score of four or higher has been determined to put an individual at high-risk of various emotional and physical health challenges. For this reason, we also arranged the same data into the table below, condensing scores of 4-10 into a single category: 4+. We use the same condensed 4+ category for all other tables throughout this paper.

ACE Scores (whole TCK sample)					
# of ACEs	# People	% of Total			
0	504	26.5%			
1	413	21.7%			
2	319	16.8%			
3	271	14.2%			
4+	397	20.9%			



As discussed previously, the mission sector makes up over 50% of the total sample, and therefore we compared the ACE scores of the mission and nonmission groups to the total sample. The ACE scores between these groups differ, as seen in the table below. The mission group in our sample had lower ACE scores than other TCKs: both a higher percentage of respondents with a score of 0 and a lower percentage of respondents with a score of 4+.

ACE Scores, mission and non-mission groups							
	All ACEs	% Non-Mission					
0	504	26.5%	308	28.8%	196	23.4%	
1	413	21.7%	257	24.1%	156	18.7%	
2	319	16.8%	186	17.4%	133	15.9%	
3	271	14.2%	138	12.9%	133	15.9%	
4+	397	20.9%	179	16.8%	218	26.1%	

■ 0 ■ 1 ■ 2 ■ 3 ■ 4+



We also have data on the individual ACE factors that make up the ACE score (the specific adverse childhood experiences each person reported) which we will share and analyze in a separate forthcoming paper.

The mission group in our sample had lower ACE scores than other TCKs: both a higher percentage of respondents with a score of 0 and a lower percentage of respondents with a score of 4+.

## ACE Score Comparisons

Next we wanted to compare the different demographic groups we isolated to determine what, if any, factors impacted the distribution of ACE scores. The following tables use percentages instead of raw numbers in order to compare the rate at which certain scores appear in each sample group. Each group compared in each chart throughout the following section comprises at least 100 unique individuals (unless otherwise noted). We looked for potential risk factors, particularly groups with higher rates of the high-risk 4+ ACEs.

#### **ACEs by Sector**

Continuing the analysis above of ACE scores in the mission and non-mission groups, we started by looking at ACE scores across all sectors. ACE scores in the Edu-NGO sector, while not as low as the mission sector, showed a significantly different distribution to other sectors. The proportion of

respondents with the risk factor of 4 or more ACEs in the business, military and diplomat sectors was significantly higher - over 25% in each case, with the business sector close to 30%. (See also chart on the next page.)

The proportion of respondents with the risk factor of 4 or more ACEs in the business, military and diplomat sectors was significantly higher over 25% in each case, with the business sector close to 30%.

ACE Scores, by mobility sector							
Sector	# of people	0	1	2	3	4+	
Mission	1.068	28.8%	24.1%	17.4%	12.9%	16.8%	
Business	275	20.0%	17.8%	16.4%	17.1%	28.7%	
Military	269	28.6%	16.4%	14.5%	15.2%	25.3%	
Diplomat	107	23.6%	18.7%	17.8%	13.1%	27.1%	
Education	150	22.0%	24.7%	16.7%	17.3%	19.3%	


#### **ACEs by Education**

Next we looked at ACE scores by core education type. The distributions in these groups did not have such distinct differences. Scores were lower for those who attended Christian international school as a core educational experience, and a bit higher for those at local schools and international schools, but not much higher than the homeschool experience.

ACE Scores by education								
	# of people	# of people 0 1 2 3 4-						
Local School	411	24.8%	18.2%	15.8%	16.3%	24.8%		
International	596	24.8%	22.7%	15.9%	14.4%	22.1%		
Christian Intl	378	30.7%	23.3%	18.8%	11.6%	15.6%		
Boarding	225	31.1%	19.1%	15.6%	16.9%	17.3%		
Homeschool	294	23.5%	25.9%	17.3%	13.9%	19.4%		

■ 0 ■ 1 ■ 2 ■ 3 ■

4+



As noted earlier, three education experiences are disproportionately represented by mission kids, namely: Christian international school, boarding school, and homeschool. We therefore hypothesized that the lower ACE scores seen in mission kids was the driving force behind the lower ACE scores seen in these schooling types, rather than these educational experiences necessarily being protective factors in themselves.

To check this hypothesis, we compared the education type and ACE scores of mission kids specifically. In doing so, we see that mission kids who selected Christian school, boarding school, or homeschool as their core educational experience had higher ACE scores than those who attended local school and international school. This lends weight to the hypothesis that the protective factor noted above is indeed that of being a mission kid rather than attending one of these school types. Homeschooling was correlated with higher ACE scores in missionary kids, while missionary kids in international schools (rather than Christian international schools specifically) had some of the lowest ACE scores among TCKs in our overall sample.

ACE Scores among Mission Kids, by education								
	# of people	# of people 0 1 2 3						
Local School	128	30.5%	20.3%	15.6%	18.8%	14.8%		
International	152	30.3%	34.9%	15.8%	8.6%	10.5%		
Christian Intl	322	30.8%	22.3%	18.9%	10.9%	17.1%		
Boarding	207	30.9%	18.8%	16.4%	15.9%	17.9%		
Homeschool	259	23.2%	25.9%	18.2%	12.7%	20.1%		



This is not to say that homeschooling is necessarily risky, but the correlation suggests that some of the same reasons mission families choose home-schooling over international schooling (or another option) may lead to additional ACEs. For example, when living in a remote area there Homeschooling was correlated with higher ACE scores in missionary kids, while missionary kids in international schools (rather than Christian international schools) had some of the lowest ACE scores among TCKs.

may be limited options for education, but perhaps greater risk of additional ACEs due to the environment. Further research is warranted here.

#### ACEs by Age

Another factor we compared against ACE scores was age. Before considering other variables, age alone seems to show Adverse Childhood Experiences among TCKs trending down over time.

ACE Scores, by decade of birth							
	# of people	0	1	2	3	4+	
Born before 1960	212	30.7%	19.8%	14.6%	15.1%	19.8%	
Born 1960-1969	219	25.1%	17.4%	16.4%	13.7%	27.4%	
Born 1970-1979	289	28.4%	23.9%	13.5%	13.2%	21.1%	
Born 1980-1989	373	28.4%	19.6%	15.6%	13.4%	23.1%	
Born 1990-1999	631	24.4%	23.9%	19.7%	13.5%	18.5%	
Born 2000-2003	180	23.3%	22.2%	17.2%	20.0%	17.2%	



Once the mission vs non-mission variable is compared, the picture regarding age-related ACE scores is less clear. Mission kids' ACE scores trend down after 1970, while the non-mission group's scores have no such clear pattern. More analysis is needed here; we plan to go into more depth with this data in future papers.

ACE Scores, by mobility sector								
Age	Sector	0	1	2	3	4+		
Born before	Mission	31.7%	23.8%	14.9%	15.8%	13.9%		
1960	Non-Mission	29.7%	16.2%	14.4%	14.4%	25.2%		
Born	Mission*	29.3%	18.2%	22.2%	12.1%	18.2%		
1960-1969	Non-Mission	21.7%	16.7%	11.7%	15.0%	35.0%		
Born	Mission	28.9%	27.5%	16.9%	7.8%	19.0%		
1970-1979	Non-Mission	27.9%	20.4%	10.2%	18.4%	23.1%		
Born	Mission	31.0%	23.5%	15.5%	12.2%	17.8%		
1980-1989	Non-Mission	25.0%	14.4%	15.6%	15.0%	30.0%		
Born	Mission	27.8%	25.5%	17.3%	12.0%	17.5%		
1990-1999	Non-Mission	18.6%	21.2%	23.8%	16.0%	20.3%		
Born	Mission	25.7%	21.2%	20.4%	22.1%	10.6%		
2000-2003	Non-Mission*	19.4%	23.9%	11.9%	16.4%	28.4%		

\*There were fewer than 100 respondents in these two sub-groups (99 mission kids born between 1960-1969, and 67 non-mission born between 2000-2003). The data for these sub-groups is therefore considered less reliable.

### **ACEs by Mobility**

The distribution rates of ACE scores were very similar for TCKs who lived in 1-3 countries. It is worth noting, however, that TCKs who lived in only one country (meaning they never lived in their TCKs who lived in more than three countries were more likely to have at least one ACE, and more likely to have a higher risk score of 4 or more.

passport country before age 18) had higher rates of 4+ ACEs than those who lived in two or three countries. With greater mobility the distribution changed slightly. TCKs who lived in more than three countries were more likely to have at least one Adverse Childhood Experience, and more likely to have a higher risk score of 4 or more. (See data table and chart on next page.)

ACE Scores, by countries lived in							
	0	1	2	3	4+		
1 country	26.9%	21.3%	17.6%	12.0%	22.2%		
2 countries	28.2%	22.7%	16.8%	13.0%	19.4%		
3 countries	26.5%	21.9%	17.7%	13.7%	20.3%		
4 countries	23.6%	22.8%	15.5%	14.2%	24.0%		
5 countries	22.3%	16.2%	14.6%	23.1%	23.8%		
>5 countries*	24.2%	15.2%	16.7%	19.7%	24.2%		

■ 0 ■ 1 ■ 2 ■ 3 ■ 4+



\*Data from the "more than 5 countries" sub-group is considered unreliable as it is only 66 people.

Next we looked at location mobility. The clear takeaway from this data is an overwhelming correlation between high risk ACE scores (4 or more) with those who indicated a large number of location moves (more than 10 before age 18). While most other groups had fewer than 20% with an ACE score of 4+ (with the exception of 6-7 moves at 21%), the group who moved more than 10 times had a rate of over 30% with ACE scores of 4 or more. In other

Nearly a third of TCKs who moved more than 10 times during childhood had a high risk ACE score of 4 or more, compared to less than a fifth of those who moved less frequently. words, nearly a third of TCKs in our sample who moved more than 10 times during childhood had a high risk ACE score of 4 or more, compared to less than a fifth of those who moved less frequently. (See data table and chart on the next page.)

ACE Scores, by location moves								
	0	0 1 2 3 4+						
0-3 moves	29.1%	22.9%	17.4%	12.5%	18.2%			
4-5 moves	27.7%	25.8%	17.0%	13.5%	16.1%			
6-7 moves	26.6%	20.7%	14.8%	16.7%	21.2%			
8-10 moves	26.5%	21.4%	18.4%	14.9%	18.9%			
>10 moves	21.7%	16.5%	15.9%	13.8%	32.1%			

■ 0 ■ 1 ■ 2 ■ 3

4+



Finally, we compared rates of ACE scores with the number of house moves. Again we see a strong correlation between high mobility and high ACE scores, with a dramatic uptick in high risk scores (4+) in those who lived in more than 15 houses during childhood. One third of this group had an ACE score of 4 or higher. (See data table below and chart on the next page.)

ACE Scores, by house moves								
	0	0 1 2 3 4+						
0-4 houses	29.5%	23.1%	18.3%	10.8%	18.3%			
5-6 houses	28.8%	23.3%	15.0%	16.0%	16.9%			
7-8 houses	32.3%	19.4%	16.9%	15.4%	16.0%			
9-10 houses	26.7%	24.9%	16.7%	13.2%	18.5%			
11-15 houses	24.5%	21.4%	15.7%	14.3%	24.2%			
>15 houses	15.3%	17.5%	18.7%	15.3%	33.2%			



These two data sets (location moves and house moves) indicate that mobility

is driving higher ACE scores in this sample. High mobility is very clearly correlated with higher ACE scores among TCKs in this sample. We intend to do additional data analysis for future papers, and hope to see more research done in this area.

High mobility is very clearly correlated with higher ACE scores among TCKs in this sample.

### **Practical Applications**

We intend for our research to have immediate practical applications, both in raising awareness of the levels of childhood adversity present in the internationally mobile TCK population, and in creating better resources for this population and those who care for them.

Childhood adversity and the presence of ACE scores does not inherently determine health and wellbeing in adulthood. In fact, the prevalence of certain protective factors can mitigate the risks associated with a high ACE score.<sup>69</sup> Efforts that focus on building healthy families early in the life of a child are an effective means of preventing ACEs and reducing their damaging effects.<sup>70</sup> The Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University offers three principles for helping families with young children thrive: enhancing

responsive relationships, strengthening core life skills, and reducing sources of stress.<sup>71</sup> While this advice was given to governmental policymakers, we suggest that it is also applicable to all agencies responsible for sending families abroad, and overseeing their care while they live outside their passport countries. This includes, though is not limited to, governments (especially their foreign service and military branches), international schools, missionary organizations, and corporate HR.

The protective factors known as Positive Childhood Experiences (PCEs) include categories of feeling heard and supported by parents, having supportive peers and a sense of belonging in a multigenerational group, feeling safe in the home, having two non-parent supportive adult relationships, and participating in community traditions.<sup>72</sup> When the majority of the seven PCEs are present regularly throughout a child's developmental years, the adversity they experience is more likely to develop into resiliency.<sup>61</sup>

"When children perceive at least one stable, supportive adult in their life, they are less likely to experience toxic stress and develop unhealthy coping strategies. Safe, stable and nurturing relationships help to build resilience, prevent violence, improve mental health and support health across one's lifespan."<sup>45</sup>

In the TCK population, PCEs are less likely to be obtained organically. Their highly mobile life makes it difficult for four of the seven PCEs involving community relationships to be maintained and fostered. Specific ACE factors (not addressed in detail in this paper) show that many of these TCKs did not feel emotionally supported by their parents, which contributes to a lack of

two of the PCE scores. The final PCE, feeling safe and protected in the home, can be lacking if the family is living in an unsafe environment, such as for the purpose of humanitarian or government work. For these reasons, adults supporting TCKs need to be conscientious about implementing the protective PCEs with intentionality.

In the TCK population, PCEs are less likely to be obtained organically, so adults supporting TCKs need to be conscientious about implementing the protective PCEs with intentionality. Learning the specific ACE scores of individual TCKs also helps parents, caregivers, and adult TCKs themselves develop effective preventive care strategies:

"...most often, professional counseling is necessary to work through these traumas, particularly as TCKs transition into adulthood. When the TCK is older, learning about ACE scores and the projected health ramifications can help them to avoid negative outcomes. For example, if an adult TCK knows that their ACE score indicates that they are 7x more likely to become an alcoholic, they may choose to forgo drinking alcohol recreationally as an intentional preventive measure...Likewise, parents need to be aware of the trajectory potential indicated by their TCK's ACE scores and apply a preventive approach beginning as early as possible."<sup>2</sup>

By looking at current ACE and PCE research and comparing it with our research on the TCK population we can not only see what the rate and type of ACE scores are that TCKs most often experience, but we can also apply research on protective measures (HOPE and PCEs) to consider how we might encourage those working with the TCK population to combat ACE scores intentionally in their care for TCKs.

# Conclusion

The data we have collected and presented here does not say that international mobility is necessarily unfavorable for young people, nor is this our belief. On the contrary, the lead contributors to this research both had experiences of international mobility during childhood (one in the mission sector, one in the business sector) which, while not entirely smooth, they are very thankful for as adults. At the same time, research-based care for young people means knowing what risks they face so that appropriate resources can be provided to families and individuals. The ACE scores seen in this sampling of the TCK population are higher than those seen in studies of monocultural populations both in the developed and the developing world. From 2011 to 2014, 62% of adults from 23 states in the USA reported having at least one ACE; 25% reported three or more, and 12.5% had four or more.<sup>73</sup> By comparison, 35% of TCKs in our sample

reported three or more ACEs, and 21% had four or more. In the 2010 study in the Philippines 75% of 1,068 respondents had at least one exposure to an adverse childhood experience (similar to our TCK sample) but only 9% had an ACE score of 4 or more, compared to 20% in our sample.<sup>58</sup> The 2002-2003 survey of 2,143

The ACE scores we see in this sampling of the TCK population are higher than those seen in both in the developed and the developing world.

respondents in Nigeria on Adverse Childhood Experiences did not use the exact ACE questionnaire formula and is therefore not completely comparable, and yet the rates of parental mental health issues, neglect and abuse were significantly lower than seen in our TCK sample.<sup>57</sup>

In the USA, 14-20% of children experience a diagnosable mental, emotional and behavioral disorder, such as depression, anxiety or OCD.<sup>74</sup> The adult TCKs we sampled had higher ACE scores than adults in the USA. It is therefore likely that a significant segment of young TCKs are experiencing mental health disorders and require support, in addition to the need to provide PCEs to prevent future risks. That said, "the ACE score is neither a diagnostic tool nor is it predictive at the individual level."<sup>44</sup>

Knowing that the TCK population as a whole is likely to have higher ACE scores and is therefore in need of higher levels of service is valuable. Knowing that there are potential risk factors is beneficial. But an ACE questionnaire alone cannot tell the future for individual children. This is especially true given what the research shows about the protective power of PCEs.

This research adds concrete data to what is already seen and known anecdotally by those doing hands-on work to support the TCK community. We hope to see this data being used to strengthen the case for increased support, in funding, personnel, purchased resources, and additional research. Internationally mobile families and children are often viewed as privileged, and therefore not at risk of ACEs, PTSD, or other mental health struggles. This data suggests the opposite: that the globally mobile are instead more prone to these kinds of problems when they are left unaddressed through the intentional application of PCEs. Additional research is required to learn more about the prevalence and impact of ACEs and PCEs in children experiencing mobility, whether domestic or international, planned or unplanned.

We infer from this data that the unique conditions of international mobility, even when this mobility is desired by families and has positive outcomes for young people, may contribute to higher rates of Adverse Childhood Experiences in the globally mobile Third Culture Kid

All sectors who prompt families to move abroad and all groups providing oversight to families living abroad have a responsibility to understand the long-term impact of this mobility, and provide appropriate services to ensure these young people thrive both in the short and long term.

population. High mobility in particular carries with it strong risk for young people. This knowledge does not mean that international mobility should be avoided, but that research on HOPE and PCEs should be leveraged to provide additional support and care to globally mobile families. All sectors who prompt families to move abroad and all groups providing oversight to families living abroad have a responsibility to understand the long-term impact of this mobility, and provide appropriate services to ensure these young people thrive both in the short and long term.

### Endnotes

- Felitti, V. J.; Anda, R. F.; Nordenberg, D.; Williamson, D. F.; Spitz, A. M.; Edwards, V.; Koss, M. P.; & Marks, J. S. (1998). "Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study." American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 14(4), 245–258.
- 2. Wells, Lauren (2021). The Grief Tower: A Practical Guide to Processing Grief with Third Culture Kids (independently published).

a. Ibid, pages 15-27

- Wells, Lauren (2021). Unstacking Your Grief Tower: A Guide to Processing Grief as an Adult Third Culture Kid (independently published).
   a. Ibid, page 52
- 4. Useem, J.; Useem, R.; & Donoghue, J. (1963). "Men in the middle of the third culture: The roles of American and non-Western people in cross-cultural administration." Human Organization, 22(3), 169-179.
- 5. Useem, Ruth Hill (1967). "The interfaces of a binational third culture: A study of the American community in India" Journal of Social Issues 23(1):130-143.
- 6. Useem, Ruth Hill (1973). "Third Culture Factors in Educational Change" in Cultural challenges in education: The influence of cultural factors in school learning, 1973, pages 121-138.
- 7. Van Reken, Ruth (1988). "Paradox of Pain" for Cross Cultural Kids. Accessed May 23, 2022. <a href="https://www.crossculturalkid.org/article-paradox-of-pain">https://www.crossculturalkid.org/article-paradox-of-pain</a>
- 8. Echerd, P.; & Arathoon, A. (Eds) (1989). Compendium of the International Conference on Missionary Kids, Quito, Ecuador, 1987: Vol. I. Understanding and nurturing the missionary family. (Pasadena, CA: William Carey Library.)
- 9. O'Bryan, Sheryl. "Third Culture Kid Definition" for Interaction International. Accessed May 23, 2022. <a href="https://interactionintl.org/third-culture-kid-definition">https://interactionintl.org/third-culture-kid-definition</a>
- Useem, Ruth Hill (1993). "Third Culture Kids: Focus of Major Study -- TCK "mother" pens history of field" in NewsLinks, the newspaper of International School Services, January, 1993; Vol. XII, No. 3; Princeton, NJ.
- Pollock, David C. & Van Reken, Ruth E. (1999); The Third Culture Kid Experience: Growing Up Among Worlds (Intercultural Press).
   a. Ibid, page 19
- Pollock, David C.; Van Reken, Ruth E. & Pollock, Michael (2017); Third Culture Kids: Growing Up Among Worlds, Third Edition (Nicholas Brealey).
   a. Ibid, page 27
- 13. Crossman, Tanya (2021). "Cross-Cultural Intersectionality", Accessed May 23, 2022. <a href="https://www.tanyacrossman.com/blog/cross-cultural-intersectionality">https://www.tanyacrossman.com/blog/cross-cultural-intersectionality></a>
- 14. Crossman, Tanya (2021). "What is a Cross Cultural Kid (CCK)", Accessed May 23, 2022. <a href="https://www.tanyacrossman.com/blog/what-is-a-cross-cultural-kid-cck">https://www.tanyacrossman.com/blog/what-is-a-cross-cultural-kid-cck</a>
- 15. Eidse, Faith and Sichel, Nina; eds (2004). Unrooted Childhoods: Memoirs of Growing Up *Global* (Nicholas Brealey).

- 16. Sand-Hart, Heidi (2010). Home Keeps Moving (McDougal).
- 17. Van Reken, Ruth (2012). *Letters Never Sent, a global nomad's journey from hurt to healing,* updated and revised (Summertime Publishing).
- 18. Murray, Taylor (2013). *Hidden in My Heart: A TCK's Journey Through Cultural Transition* (BottomLine Media).
- 19. Gardner, Marilyn (2014). Between Worlds: Essays on Culture and Belonging (Doorlight Publications).
- 20. Gardner, Marilyn (2018). Worlds Apart: A Third Culture Kid's Journey (Doorlight Publications).
- 21. Zilber, Ettie (2009). Third Culture Kids The Children of Educators in International Schools (John Catt Educational).
- 22. Quick, Tina (2010). *The Global Nomad's Guide to University Transition* (Summertime Publishing).
- 23. Simens, Julia (2011). Emotional Resilience and the Expat Child: Practical Storytelling Techniques That Will Strengthen the Global Family (Summertime Publishing).
- 24. Bushong, Lois (2013). Belonging Everywhere and Nowhere: Insights into Counseling the Globally Mobile (Mango Tree Intercultural Services).
- 25. Ota, Doug (2014). Safe Passage: How mobility affects people & what international schools should do about it (Summertime Publishing).
- 26. Ernvik, Ulrika (2019). Third Culture Kids: A Gift to Care For (Familjeglädje).
- 27. Abraham, Anisha (2020). *Raising Global Teens: A Practical Handbook for Parenting in the 21st Century* (Summertime Publishing).
- 28. Wells, Lauren (2020). *Raising Up a Generation of Healthy Third Culture Kids: A Practical Guide to Preventive Care* (independently published).
- 29. Tonges, Menezes, Gemmer Emigh, et al (2013). *Slurping Soup and Other Confusions: true stories and activities to help third culture kids during transition*, 2nd edition (Summertime Publishing).
- 30. O'Shaughnessy, Christopher (2014). Arrivals, Departures and the Adventures In-Between (Summertime Publishing).
- 31. Crossman, Tanya (2016). *Misunderstood: The Impact of Growing Up Overseas in the 21st Century* (Summertime Publishing).
- 32. Tanu, Danau (2017). Growing Up in Transit: The Politics of Belonging at an International School (Berghahn Books).
- 33. Lee, Jiwon (2020). The Third Culture Teen: In Between Cultures, In Between Life Stages (New Degree Press).
- 34. Burnett, Frances Hodgson (1905). A Little Princess: Being the Whole Story of Sara Crewe (Charles Scribner's Sons).
- 35. Burnett, Frances Hodgson (1911). *The Secret Garden* (Frederick A. Stokes Company, New York).
- 36. Williams, Karen Lynn (1994) When Africa Was Home (Scholastic).
- 37. Besanceney, Valerie (2014). B at Home: Emma Moves Again (Summertime Publishing).
- 38. Jackson, Emily Steele (2018). Home, James (Independently published).
- 39. Jackson, Emily Steele (2021). See Ya Later, Allie Rader (Independently published).

- 40. Abe, Jo Ann A. (2018). "Personality, Well-Being, and Cognitive-Affective Styles: A Cross-Sectional Study of Adult Third Culture Kids" in Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 2018, Vol. 49(s) 811-830.
- 41. Choi, Kyoung Mi & Luke, Melissa (2011). "A Phenomenological Approach to Understanding Early Adult Friendships of Third Culture Kids." Journal of Asia Pacific Counseling 2011, Vol. 1,No.1,47-60.
- 42. Cottrell, Ann Baker (2007). "Adult TCKs: Life Choices, Commitment and Personal Characteristics" presented at the 8th Families In Global Transition Conference (Houston, TX, USA; March 2007).
- Lijadi, Anastasia A.; & Van Schalkwyk, Gertina J. (2017). "Place identity construction of Third Culture Kids: Eliciting voices of children with high mobility lifestyle." Geoforum 81 (2017) 120-128.
- 44. Anda, Robert F.; Porter, Laura E.; & Brown, David W. (2020). "Inside the Adverse Childhood Experience Score: Strengths, Limitations, and Misapplications." American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2020;59(2):293-295.
- 45. Bellazaire, Amber (2018). "Preventing and Mitigating the Effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences," National Conference of State Legislatures Health Program (Denver, Colorado).
- 46. Chapman, DP; Whitfield, CL; Felitti, VJ; Dube, SR; Edwards, VJ; & Anda, RF (2004). "Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of depressive disorders in adulthood." Journal of Affective Disorders. 2004;82(2):217-225.
- 47. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016). "About Adverse Childhood Experiences" (Atlanta, Ga.: CDC, April 1, 2016).
- 48. Bailey, T.; Montes, S.; Mead, V.; Bedner, G.; & Cottrell, E. (2014). "Paces science 101" on ACEs Too High. Accessed May 20, 2022. <a href="https://acestoohigh.com/aces-101">https://acestoohigh.com/aces-101</a>
- 49. Hughes, K., et al. (2017). "The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and metaanalysis," The Lancet Public Health 2, no. 8 (August 2017): 356-366.
- 50. Brown, DW; Anda, RF; Tiemeier, H; Felitti, VJ; Edwards, VJ; Croft, JB; & Giles, WH (2009). "Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of premature mortality." American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2009 Nov;37(5):389-96.
- 51. Burke, Nadine J.; Hellman, Julia L.; Scott, Brandon G.; Weems, Carl F.; & Carrion, Victor G. (2011). "The impact of adverse childhood experiences on an urban pediatric population." Child Abuse & Neglect 35, no. 6 (June 2011): 408-413.
- 52. Oral, Resmiye; Ramirez, Marizen; Coohey, Carol; Nakada, Stephanie; Walz, Amy; Kuntz, Angela; Benoit, Jenna & Peek-Asa, Corinne (2016). "Adverse childhood experiences and trauma informed care: the future of health care," Pediatric Research 79 (2016): 227-233.
- 53. Dube, SR; Anda, RF; Felitti, VJ; Chapman, DP; Williamson, DF; & Giles, WH (2001).
  "Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: Findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study." The Journal of the American Medical Association. 2001;286(24):3089-3096.

- 54. Harris, Nadine Burke (2018). "Treating the Lifelong Harm of Childhood Trauma," interview by David Bornstein, New York Times (January 30, 2018). Accessed May 19, 2022. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2018/01/30/opinion/treating-the-lifelong-harm-of-childhood-trauma.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2018/01/30/opinion/treating-the-lifelong-harm-of-childhood-trauma.html</a>
- 55. Felitti, Vincent J. (2009). "Adverse Childhood Experiences and Adult Health." Academic Pediatrics 2009;9:131-2.
- 56. Palmer, JA; Palmer, LK; & Williamson, D (1995). "Childhood abuse as a factor in attrition from drug rehabilitation." Psychological Reports. 1995;76(3 Pt 1):879-882.
- 57. Oladeji, Bibilola D.; Makanjuola, Victor A.; & Gureje, Oye (2010). "Family-related adverse childhood experiences as risk factors for psychiatric disorders in Nigeria." The British Journal of Psychiatry (2010); 196, 186-191.
- Ramiro, L. S.; Madrid, B. J.; & Brown, D. W. (2010). "Adverse childhood experiences (ACE) and health-risk behaviors among adults in a developing country setting." Child Abuse & Neglect, 34, 842-855.
- 59. National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University (2014). "Excessive Stress Disrupts the Architecture of the Developing Brain: Working Paper 3" (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University).
- 60. Sege, Robert D. & Browne, Charlyn H. (2017). "Responding to ACEs with HOPE: Health outcomes from positive experiences." Academic Pediatrics, 17(7), S79-S85.
- Bethell, Christina; Jones, Jennifer; Gombojav, Narangerel; Linkenbach, J., & Sege, R. (2019). "Positive Childhood Experiences and Adult Mental and Relational Health in a Statewide Sample: Associations Across Adverse Childhood Experiences Levels." The Journal of the American Medical Association Pediatrics, 2019;173(11).
- 62. TCK Training (2022) "Methodology Report for the 2021 TCK Training Survey Of Developmental Trauma In Third Culture Kids (TCKs)." Accessed May 23, 2022. <a href="https://www.tcktraining.com/research/tckaces-methodology">https://www.tcktraining.com/research/tckaces-methodology</a>
- 63. Our key point of reference was the questionnaire used on the ACEs Too High website, a resource we also pointed respondents to for learning more about what ACEs are: ACEs Too High. "What ACEs/PCEs do you have?" Accessed May 20, 2022. <https://acestoohigh.com/got-your-ace-score/>
- 64. Sacks, V; Murphey, D; & Moore, K (2014). "Adverse Childhood Experiences: National and State-level Prevalence" (Bethesda, Md.: Child Trends, July 2014). Accessed May 19, 2022. <a href="https://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Brief-adverse-childhood-experiences\_FINAL.pdf">https://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Briefadverse-childhood-experiences\_FINAL.pdf</a>>
- 65. Used under the name SurveyMonkey
- 66. "The sponsor creates the paradigm of the expatriate family; it has its own subculture and norms to which the family members must adhere; it influences the type and quality of family life, the transition process, and, also, the education and schooling of the children. It has a strong impact on the nature of the third culture experiences of the children." (Zilber in *Third Culture Kids The Children of Educators in International School*, see note 19).
- 67. Crossman devotes an entire section to the impact of different educational experiences on Third Culture Kids in her book *Misunderstood* (see note 29).

- 68. "Many international schools are moving away from offering solely a national (usually UK or US based) curriculum toward curricula that are specifically designed for the international community, like the International Baccalaureate." Valerie Besanceney, cited in *Misunderstood* (see note 29.)
- Wright, M. O.; Masten, A. S.; & Narayan, A. J. (2013) "Resilience processes in development: Four waves of research on positive adaptation in the context of adversity" in S. Goldstein & R. B. Brooks (Eds.), Handbook of resilience in children (pp. 15-37). Springer, Boston, MA.
- 70. Banyard, Victoria; Hamby, Sherry; & Grych, John (2017). "Health effects of adverse childhood events: Identifying promising protective factors at the intersection of mental and physical well-being," Child Abuse & Neglect, 65 (March 2017): 88-98.
- 71. Cohen, Steven D. (2021). "Three Principles to Improve Outcomes for Children and Families: 2021 Update" (Cambridge, Mass.: Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, April 2021).
- 72. Hays-Grudo, Jennifer & Morris, Amanda (2022). We are the sum of our experiences: ACEs and PACEs. Accessed May 6, 2022. <acesandpaces.com>
- 73. Merrick, M.T., et al., "Adverse Childhood Experiences: An Update from Twenty-Four States, 2011-2014" (The Journal of the American Medical Association Pediatrics, in press).
- 74. National Research Council (US) and Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on the Prevention of Mental Disorders and Substance Abuse Among Children, Youth, and Young Adults (2009). "Research Advances and Promising Intervention, Preventing Mental, Emotional, and Behavioral Disorders Among Young People: Progress and Possibilities" (Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press).

## **Other Sources Consulted**

- Bergland, Christopher (2019). Seven Early Experiences with Potential Benefits in Adulthood, for Psychology Today. Accessed May 6, 2022.
   <a href="https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/the-athletes-way/201909/seven-early-experiences-potential-benefits-in-adulthood">https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/the-athletes-way/201909/seven-earlyexperiences-potential-benefits-in-adulthood></a>
- Cohen, Judith A.; & Mannarino, Anthony P. (2015). "Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Traumatized Children and Families," Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America 24, no. 3 (April 22, 2015): 557–570.
- Daines, Chantel L.; Hansen, Dustin; Lelinneth, M.; Novilla, B.; & Crandall, AliceAnn (2021). "Effects of positive and negative childhood experiences on adult family health." BMC Public Health, 2021; 21: 651.
- Easton, CJ; Swan, S & Sinha R (2000). "Prevalence of family violence in clients entering substance abuse treatment." Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. 2000;18(1):23-28.
- FIGT Research Network (accessed May 20, 2022) <https://www.figt.org/research\_network>
- Harris, Nadine Burke (2018) The Deepest Well: Healing the Long Term Effects of Childhood Adversity (Mariner Books).
- The Philadelphia Project (2013). *Findings from the Philadelphia Urban ACE Survey*, prepared by The Research and Evaluation Group at Public Health Management Corporation for the Institute for Safe Families. Accessed May 6, 2022. <https://simple booklet.com/findingsfromphiladelphiaacesurveyandcomparedacequestions>
- Pittman, Lisa & Smit, Diana (2011). Expat Teens Talk: Peers, Parents and Professionals offer support, advice and solutions in response to Expat Life challenges as shared by Expat Teens (Summertime Publishing).
- Slavery, Paul (2020). "PCEs" and "ACEs" Are Two Sides of the Same "Childhood Experiences" Coin, for PACEs Connection blog. Accessed May 6, 2022.
   <a href="https://www.pacesconnection.com/blog/pces-and-aces-are-two-sides-of-the-same-childhood-experiences-coin">https://www.pacesconnection.com/blog/pces-and-aces-are-two-sides-of-the-same-childhood-experiences-coin</a>>
- Van der Kolk, Bessel, M.D. (2015). *The Body Keeps the Score: Brain, Mind, and Body in the Healing of Trauma* (Penguin Publishing Group).
- World Health Organization (2018). "Adverse Childhood Experiences International Questionnaire" in Adverse Childhood Experiences International Questionnaire (ACE-IQ). (Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 2018). Accessed May 19, 2022.
   <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/adverse-childhood-experiencesinternational-questionnaire-(ace-iq)></a>
- Winfrey, Oprah; Perry, Bruce D., MD, PhD, (2021). What Happened to You?: Conversations on Trauma, Resilience, and Healing (Flatiron Books).